

Genetics of Sucrose Transporter in Plants

Katsuhiro Shiratake

Graduate School of Bioagricultural Sciences, Nagoya University, Chikusa, Nagoya 464-8601, Japan

Correspondence: shira@agr.nagoya-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT

Sucrose is one of the most common and abundant carbon forms in plants. Most plants synthesize sucrose as a major photosynthetic product and use it for long distance carbon transport. Therefore sucrose transport in plants probably is highly regulated and sucrose transporters have indispensable roles in the regulation. In the Arabidopsis genome, 69 sugar transporter homologues have been found, 9 of which are in the sucrose transporter SUC/SUT family. The SUC/SUT family is further divided into three subfamilies based on homology: SUC2/SUT1, SUC3/SUT2 and SUC4 subfamilies. Gene structures, protein structures, kinetics of sucrose transport and subcellular localizations differ between these three subfamilies. Sucrose transporter genes have been isolated from many different plants and their expressions, regulations and physiological roles have been studied. This review summarizes these studies of sucrose transporters.

Keywords: SUC, sucrose transporter, SUT, phloem loading Abbreviations: CC, companion cell; MFS, major facilitator superfamily; SE, sieve element; SUC, sucrose transporter; SUT, sucrose transporter; TMD, transmembrane domain

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	73
SUCROSE TRANSPORTER FAMILY AND SUBFAMILIES	73
Gene structures of sucrose transporters	75
Protein structure and kinetics of sucrose transporters	75
Subcellular localization (vacuolar sucrose transporters)	76
PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLES OF SUCROSE TRANSPORTERS	76
Roles in phloem loading	76
Roles in sink organs and tissues	77
EXPRESSION AND REGULATION OF SUCROSE TRANSPORTERS	78
Mysterious occurrence of sucrose transporter mRNA and protein in sieve elements and pollen	78
Post translational regulation	78
CONCLUSIONS AND FURTHER PERSPECTIVES	78
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	78
REFERENCES	78

INTRODUCTION

Most plants synthesize sucrose as a major photosynthetic product and use it for long-distance carbon transport. Although some plant species use oligosaccharides or polyols for long-distance carbon transport (Keller and Pharr 1996; Noiraud et al. 2001b), such as the raffinose series of oligo-saccharides in Cucurbitaceae, sorbitol in Rosaceae and mannitol in Apiaceae, these plants also synthesize sucrose and use it for long-distance carbon transport. Thus sucrose is a universal form of long-distance carbon transport and sucrose transport systems have indispensable roles in plant growth and development. Riesmeier et al. (1992) identified sucrose transporter cDNA (SoSUT1) in the spinach cDNA library by using a screening system with a yeast mutant. Since then, many sucrose transporter genes have been identified and characterized for various plant species. The importance of sucrose transporters not only in sucrose phloem loading in source leaves, but also in the development of various sink organs and tissues such as seeds and fruits, have been reported. Sucrose transporters in plants may be controlled not only by transcriptional and translational regulations, but also by post-translational regulations, including protein phosphorylation and oligomerization of different kinds of sucrose transporters. Recent proteome analyses of vacuolar membrane proteins identified sucrose transporters of vacuolar membrane. Ward *et al.* (1998), Kühn *et al.* (1999), Lalonde *et al.* (1999, 2004), Lemoine (2000), Williams *et al.* (2000) and Kühn (2003) summarized sucrose transporters in plants. Here, sucrose transporter studies in plants are reviewed generally and recent information is added.

SUCROSE TRANSPORTER FAMILY AND SUBFAMILIES

Sugar transporters in different organisms, including human, plants and yeast, belong to a major facilitator superfamily (MFS) (Lalonde *et al.* 2004). At least 69 sugar transporter homologues have been found in Arabidopsis and are classified into eight large families (Shiratake 2007): sucrose transporter (SUC/SUT), hexose transporter (STP/HXT), polyol transporter (PLT), *myo*-inositol transporter (ITR/MIT), plastidic glucose transporter (pGlcT), putative mono-saccharide sensing protein (AZT/MSSP), SFP and one uncharacterized monosaccharide transporter family. Nine suc-



Fig. 1 Phylogenetic tree of the SUC/SUT family. An unrooted N-J tree was constructed for sucrose transporters of various plants in the text by using CLUSTAL W. The SUC/SUT family was further classified into three subfamilies: SUC2/SUT1, SUC4 and SUC3/SUT2 subfamilies. Ag, *Apium graveolens*; Am, *Alonsoa meridionalis*; At, *Arabidopsis thaliana*; Bv, *Beta vulgaris*; Cit, *Citrus sinensis*; Dc, *Daucus carota*; Hv, *Hordeum vulgaris*; Le, *Lycopersicon esculentum*; Nt, *Nicotiana tabacum*; Os, *Oryza sativa*; Pm, *Plantago major*; Ps, *Pisum sativum*; Rc, *Ricinus communis*; Sh, *Saccharm hybrid*; So, *Spinacea oleracea*; St, *Solanum tuberosum*; Ta, *Triticum aestivum*; Vf, *Vicia faba*; Vv, *Vitis vinifera*; Zm, *Zea mays*.



Fig. 2 Gene structures of the SUC/SUT family of Arabidopsis and rice. An N-J tree was constructed by using CLUSTAL W. Gene structures are the predictions in ARAMEMNON (http://aramemnon.botanik.uni-koeln.de/). Exons and introns are shown by a blue box and a black line, respectively.

rose transporter homologues of Arabidopsis belong to the SUC/SUT family, which is, together with the STP/HXT family, the most well-characterized family. Homologues of the SUC/SUT family exist in other higher and lower organisms, including *Escherichia coli*, yeast and human, however, amino acid identity between the homologues and the SUC/SUT family is very low. The homologues are members of the MFS and called oligosaccharide/H⁺ symporter (OHS) family (Pao *et al.* 1998). In most organisms, sucrose is a minor sugar and sucrose transport system is not necessary. Therefore, although some members of the OHS family can transport sucrose, they are not for sucrose transport but for other disaccharides or oligosaccharides, such as lactose and raffinose, in organisms other than plants (Pao *et al.* 1998).

Gene structures of sucrose transporters

The SUC/SUT family is further divided into three subfamilies based on homology: SUC2/SUT1, SUC3/SUT2 and SUC4 (Fig. 1). Nine and five sucrose transporter genes are in the Arabidopsis and rice genomes, respectively. Their gene structures (compositions of exons and introns) were compared in this study (Fig. 2). Interestingly, the gene structures of these sucrose transporters are very similar within each subfamily, but differ between the three subfa-milies. Genes in the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily have a large first exon and small second and third exons. One exception in the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily is AtSUC2 that has a large first exon and three small exons, but its gene structure is still more similar to other members of the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily than to the other two families. Genes of the SUC4 subfamily have large first and second exons and three smaller exons. The first and second exons in the SUC4 subfamily might correspond to the first large exon in the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily. The gene structure of the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily is very different from that of the SUC2/SUT1 and SUC4 subfamilies because it consists of more than ten small exons.

Interestingly, sucrose transporters of dicotyledons are distributed in all three subfamilies, but those of monocotyledons are only in the SUC3/SUT2 and SUC4 subfamilies. This suggests that the SUC3/SUT2 and SUC4 subfamilies existed in primitive plants before the evolutionary divergence of monocotyledons and dicotyledons. The SUC2/ SUT1 subfamily might have appeared in dicotyledons after the divergence. Each plant family or species has para-logues close to each other in the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily. For instance, seven paralogues of Arabidopsis and three paralogues of celery in the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily form a cluster in each of the plants (Fig. 1). This suggests that paralogues of the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily in each plant species might have differentiated in a later period of evolution. The major sucrose subfamilies of dicotyledons and monocotyledons are the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily and the SUC3/ SUT2 subfamily, respectively, and so dicotyledons and monocotyledons each developed their subfamily preferentially during their evolution.

Protein structure and kinetics of sucrose transporters

The SUC/SUT family has typical structures of an MFS, such as 12 transmembrane domains (TMDs) and 11 loops (**Fig. 3**). The N- and C-terminuses are considered to be in the cytosol. The gene (**Fig. 2**) and protein (**Fig. 3**) structures of the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily differ from those of the SUC2/SUT1 and SUC4 subfamilies. The SUC3/SUT2 subfamily, with some exceptions in rice, has extended domains in the central loop (about 50 amino acids longer than the other subfamilies) and the N-terminus is about 30 amino acids longer than for the other subfamilies (Barker *et al.* 2000, **Fig. 3**). Yeast sugar sensor proteins, such as SNF3 and RGT2, have a hexose transporter-like structure with an extended domain (Özcan *et al.* 1996, 1998). Sucrose transporter-subfamilies (Barker *et al.* 2000).



Fig. 3 Protein structure of the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily (AtSUC2/ SUT1), SUC4 subfamily (AtSUC4) and SUC3/SUT2 subfamily (AtSUC3/SUT2). Transmembrane domains were predicted by HMMTOP (http://www.enzim.hu/hmmtop/). Sucrose transporters have 12 transmembrane domains (TMDs) and 11 loops. The SUC3/SUT2 subfamily has extended domains in the central loop and N-terminus.

port activity has not detected for yeast-expressed tomato LeSUT2 (Barker *et al.* 2000), and so LeSUT2 is hypothesized to act as a sucrose sensor. However, the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily, such as common plantain PmSUC3, rice OsSUT1 and barley HvSUT1, have the ability to transport sucrose (Hirose *et al.* 1997; Toyofuku *et al.* 2000; Barth *et al.* 2003; Sivitz *et al.* 2005). The knockout mutant of Arabidopsis *AtSUT2* has no conspicuous phenotype (Barth *et al.* 2003), suggesting that AtSUT2 does not act as a sensor because a more marked phenotype would be expected for such a sensor. Whether members of the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily act as sucrose sensors is still debatable (Eckardt 2003).

The SUC2/SUT1 subfamily was identified first and its sucrose transport activity was characterized well. It includes high-affinity sucrose transporters with Km values for sucrose of 100 µM to 2 mM (Kühn 2003). The SUC4 subfamily with few exceptions, include low-affinity sucrose transporters of Km about 5 mM (Weise et al. 2000; Weschke et al. 2000). The SUC3/SUT2 subfamily, such as common plantain PmSUC3, rice OsSUT1 and barley HvSUT1, show low-affinity sucrose transport activities (Hirose et al. 1997; Toyofuku et al. 2000; Barth et al. 2003; Sivitz et al. 2005). Most members of the SUC3/ SUT2 subfamily have extended domains in the central loop and the N-terminus, and the domains are considered to be important for affinity for sucrose or for regulation of transport activity or both. Schulze et al. (2000) exchanged the N-terminuses of the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily (AtSUT2, low affinity for sucrose) and the SUC2/SUT1 subfamily (StSUT1, high affinity for sucrose): AtSUT2 with the Nterminus of StSUT1 showed higher affinity and StSUT1 with the N-terminus of AtSUT2 showed lower affinity compared with their native forms. This shows the importance of the N-terminus for affinity of sucrose transport. Conversely, deletion and replacement of the extended central loop domain of the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily does not affect transport activity (Meyer et al. 2000; Schulze et al. 2000), suggesting that the loop domain is not required for transport. The function of the extended central loop of the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily is still unclear.

Subcellular localization (vacuolar sucrose transporters)

The SUC/SUT family has been shown (Kühn et al. 1997; Barker et al. 2000; Reinders et al. 2002) or are considered to be in the plasma membrane. Therefore, many reports have discussed the roles of the SUC/SUT family for only in plasma membrane (see the next section "PHYSIOLOGI-CAL ROLES OF SUCROSE TRANSPORTERS"). In plants, the vacuole is the most important organelle for sucrose storage, and some organs and tissues specialized for sucrose storage, such as sugar cane stalk, sugar beet taproot and fruits, accumulate sucrose at almost 1 M. Sucrose transport activities have been reported for isolated vacuoles or vacuolar membrane vesicles from different plant materials, such as beet taproot (Doll et al. 1979; Briskin et al. 1982; Getz 1991; Getz and Klein 1995; Echeverría and Gonzalez 2000), sugarcane stalk (Thom and Komor 1984; Williams et al. 1990; Getz et al. 1991; Preisser and Komor 1991), artichoke tuber (Keller 1992; Greutert and Keller 1993; Pontis et al. 2002), pineapple leaves (McRae et al. 2002) and tomato fruit (Milner et al. 1995). Despite the importance of sucrose transport in vacuolar membranes and the detection of its activity, no protein and gene for vacuolar sucrose transporters have been isolated. Getz et al. (1993, 1994) and Thom et al. (1992) tried to identify sucrose transporters in vacuolar membranes, but they failed.

Recently, proteomic analyses of vacuolar membrane proteins of Arabidopsis have been done and some sugar transporters were identified (Carter et al. 2004; Sazuka et al. 2004; Shimaoka et al. 2004; Szponarski et al. 2004). Shimaoka et al. (2004) discovered AtSUC1 in their proteomic analysis, but positive subcellular localization of AtSUC1 was not determined. More recently, Endler et al. (2006)identified a sucrose transporter homologue (HvSÚT2) of the SUT4 subfamily by proteome analysis of vacuolar membrane proteins of barley mesophyll cells. Endler et al. (2006) also showed that GFP fusion proteins of HvSUT2 and its homologue of Arabidopsis (AtSUT4) are expressed in the vacuolar membrane of Arabidopsis leaves and onion epidermis. Endler et al. (2006) was the first report to clearly show the presence of the SUC/SUT subfamily in the vacuolar membrane and to show that some members of the SUT4 subfamily have roles in the vacuolar membrane. Immunolocalization has shown that LeSUT4 of the SUT4 subfamily in tomato is localized in

the plasma membrane of sieve elements (SE) (Reinders *et al.* 2002). Endler *et al.* (2006) and Reinders *et al.* (2002) suggested that the SUT4 subfamily localizes both in the plasma membrane and in the vacuolar membrane, but whether the same transporter localizes in both membranes or different transporters in different membranes is unclear. The presence of the SUC/SUT subfamily in other organelles has not been reported. Subcellular localization of each sucrose transporter should be checked carefully to determine its physiological functions.

PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLES OF SUCROSE TRANSPORTERS

Sucrose is a major carbon form for long-distance transport in plants, and so sucrose transporters are probably active everywhere in the plant. **Fig. 4** shows a schematic diagram of sucrose transport in plants and the sites of sucrose transporters.

Roles in phloem loading

Generally, sucrose concentration in sieve tubes is higher than in photosynthetic cells, and SE and companion cells (CC) are isolated apoplastically from photosynthetic cells in many sucrose-loading plants (Gamalei 1989). Thus sucrose transporters have to take up sucrose from apoplast to the SE and CC. This mechanism is called apoplastic phloem loading.

Sucrose transporter mRNA and protein are found in the phloem of source leaves, such as potato *StSUT1*, *StSUT2* and *StSUT4* (Riesmeier *et al.* 1993; Kühn *et al.* 1997; Weise *et al.* 2000; Reinders *et al.* 2002), tomato *LeSUT1* and *LeSUT4* (Barker *et al.* 2000; Weise *et al.* 2000; Reinders *et al.* 2002), Arabidopsis *AtSUT2*, *AtSUT3* and *AtSUT4* (Truernit and Sauer 1995; Stadler and Sauer 1996; Schulze *et al.* 2000; Weise *et al.* 2000; Weise *et al.* 2000; Weise *et al.* 2000; Weise *et al.* 2000; Meyer *et al.* 2004; Stadler *et al.* 2005), sugar beet *BvSUT1* (Vaughn *et al.* 2002), wheat *TaSUT1* (Aoki *et al.* 2004), and rice *OsSUT1* (Matsukura *et al.* 2000). Although some of them, such as AtSUC3 (Meyer *et al.* 2000; Schulze *et al.* 2000), are most abundant in the phloem of major veins or petioles and may participate in sucrose retrieval, many of them are localized in minor veins in source leaves and participate in phloem loading.

Knockdown and knockout of sucrose transporter genes expressed in the phloem showed clearly their participation in phloem loading. Antisense-transgenic potato plants of StSUT1 under the control of the CaMV35S promoter or phloem-specific promoters accumulate high amounts of sugars and starch in source leaves and their photosynthetic activity decreases, as shown by Riesmeier et al. (1994), Kühn et al. (1996, 2003), Lemoine et al. (1996) and Schulz et al. (1998). Growth of transformants decreases and the plants have a reduced number of smaller tubers. These reports show that sucrose transporters in the phloem have indispensable roles in sucrose phloem loading and long-distance transport of photoassimilates. Antisense-suppression of phloem-specific sucrose transporters has been reported for other plants, such as NtSUT1 in tobacco (Bürkle et al. 1998), LeSUT1 in tomato (Hackel et al. 2006) and OsSUT1 in rice (Ishimaru et al. 2001; Scofield et al. 2002). Although antisense-transformation of OsSUT1 does not affect photosynthetic activity (Ishimaru et al. 2001; Scofield et al. 2002), other antisense-plants show phenotypes consistent with an essential role of sucrose transporters in phloem loading and long-distance carbon transport. Arabidopsis knockout mutant of phloem-specific AtSUC2 show a similar phenotype of transgenic plants that suppress their sucrose transporters in the phloem (Gottwald et al. 2000). Leggewie et al. (2003) produced potato plants that had overexpressed spinach SoSUT1 under the control of the CaMV35S promoter. Sucrose transport activity in plasma membrane vesicles from transformants was higher than for wild-type plants, but the impact of SoSUT1 overexpression on photosynthesis and on potato tuber yield was little.



Fig. 4 Sugar transport system in sucrose-loading plants. Sucrose synthesized in the cytosol of photosynthetic cells move to apoplast by putative sucrose transporters or by simple diffusion (dotted line). The sucrose in apoplast is loaded into companion cells (CC) and sieve elements (SE) by sucrose transporters. The sucrose transported into CC move to SE through plasmodesmata. Sucrose loaded into SE of source leaves is considered to move to sinks by mass-flow. Sucrose, which leaks from SE to apoplast, is returned to SE by sucrose transporters. In sinks, sucrose in SE is unloaded symplastically through plasmodesmata or apoplastically. In apoplastic loading, sucrose in apoplast is taken up into sink cells by sucrose transporters, or is converted to fructose and glucose by apoplastic invertase (INV) and then hexose transporters transports them into sink cells. Sucrose is stored in vacuoles in photosynthetic and sink cells by sucrose transporters.

Oligosaccharide-loading plants accumulate photosynthetic products by symplastic phloem loading (Turgeon 2006). That is, sucrose moves from photosynthetic cells to CC through plasmodesmata, oligosaccharides are synthesized from sucrose in CC, and then oligosaccharides move to SE through plasmodesmata. In polyol-loading plants, polyols are considered to accumulate apoplastically by polyol transporters (Noiraud et al. 2001c; Watari et al. 2004). Sucrose transporters are also expressed in the phloem of oligosaccharide-loading plants, such as AmSUT1 in Alon-soa meridionalis (Knop et al. 2001, 2004), and of polyolloading plants, such as AgSUT1 in celery (Noiraud et al. 2000a) and PmSUC2 and PmSUC3 in common plantain (Stadler et al. 1995; Barth et al. 2003). These results suggest that sucrose transporters partly contribute to phloem loading in oligosaccharide-loading plants (symplastic phloem loaders) and polyol-loading plants.

Roles in sink organs and tissues

Sucrose from source leaves through the phloem is unloaded in sink organs and tissues. Both symplastic and apoplastic mechanisms have been suggested for sucrose unloading (Patrick and Offler 1996). In symplastic unloading, sucrose moves from SE to sink cells thorough plasmodesmata (**Fig. 4**), supported by the existence of relatively high density plasmodesmata between SE and CC to sink cells and by the movement of fluorescent dye from phloem to sink cells (Patrick and Offler 1996). In apoplastic unloading, sucrose moves from the phloem to apoplast first and then it is transported into sink cells by sucrose transporters, or it is converted to fructose and glucose by apoplastic invertase and then hexose transporters transport them into sink cells (**Fig. 4**). Expressions of sucrose transporters in various sink organs and tissues have been reported, and so they very likely participate in sucrose unloading in sink organs and tissues.

Sugar transporters are expressed in various sink organs and tissues, such as RcScr1 in seedlings of Ricinus communis (Weig and Komor 1996; Bick et al. 1998), DcSUT1 in sink tissues of carrot (Shakya and Strum 1998), ShSUT1 protein in veins of sugarcane stem (Rae et al. 2005), NtSUT3 in pollen of tobacco (Lemoine et al. 1999), GhSUT1 in elongating cotton fibers (Ruan et al. 2001), OsSUT1-5 in various sink organs of rice including developing grains (Furbank *et al.* 2001; Aoki *et al.* 2003), common plantain *PmSUC1*, pea *PsSUT1*, fava bean *VfSUT1*, barley *HvSUT1* and *HvSUT2*, and wheat *TaSUT1* in developing seeds (Gahrtz et al. 1996; Weber et al. 1997; Tegeder et al. 1999; Weschke et al. 2000; Takeda et al. 2001; Aoki et al. 2002, 2006). Arabidopsis AtSUCs have been detected in sink organs and tissues: AtSUC3 in, for example, guard cells, trichome, germinating pollen, root tip, carpel cell layer, (Meyer et al. 2000, 2004), AtSUC5 in endosperm (Baud et al. 2005), AtSUC8 and AtSUC9 in various sink organs including floral tissues (Sauer et al. 2004; Sivitz et al. 2007). These transporters may have roles in the phloem or post-phloem unloading. Sucrose transporters, which may have a role in sugar accumulation, are also expressed in fruit and include *CitSUT1* and *CitSUT2* in citrus (Li *et al.* 2003), VvSUC11, VvSUC12 and VvSUC27 in grapevine (Davies et al. 1999; Ageorges et al. 2000; Manning et al.

2001), LeSUT2 in tomato (Reinders et al. 2002).

Tomato *LeSUT2* is expressed predominantly in sink organs, such as immature leaves and fruit (Reinders *et al.* 2002), and its antisense-inhibition markedly decreases in fruit and seed development and pollen germination (Hackel *et al.* 2006). Arabidopsis *AtSUC9* is expressed in sink tissues throughout the shoot to the flowers and knockout mutants of *AtSUC9* are early flowering (Sivitz *et al.* 2007). Seed-specific overexpression of *StSUT1* in pea increases sucrose uptake and the growth rate in developing cotyledons (Rosche *et al.* 2002). These results show the importance of sucrose transporters in plant development, especially in sink strength.

EXPRESSION AND REGULATION OF SUCROSE TRANSPORTERS

Sucrose transport activity is regulated at the gene expression level of sucrose transporters, and gene expressions are regulated by organ or tissue specificity (see the section "PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLES OF SUCROSE TRANS-PORTERS"), developmental cues, circadian rhythm, stresses and environmental factors. Expressions of potato StSUT1 and celery AgSUT1 expression decreases by salt stress (Noiraud et al. 2000a). Sugar beet BvSUT1 is induced by cutting and ageing (Sakr et al. 1997), and Arabidopsis *AtSUC3* is induced by wounding (Meyer *et al.* 2004). Arabidopsis *AtSUC2* gene was induced in a syncytium cell-complex formed by nematode infection, which suggests the AtSUC2 gene is induced by pathogen infection (Juergensen et al. 2003). Walnut JrSUT1 is expressed in xylem parenchyma cells and the expression is up-regulated by freeze-thaw cycles, suggesting the participation of JrSUT1 in cold tolerance (Decourteix et al. 2006). Expression of potato StSUT1 and Arabidopsis AtSUC2 is under developmental control and both are induced during sink-tosource transition in leaves (Riesmeier et al. 1993; Truernit and Sauer 1995). Maize ZmSUT1 is expressed in mature leaves and the expression changes diurnally (Aoki et al. 1999), suggesting that its expression changes to regulate the sucrose export rate from leaves. Sucrose controls the expression of sucrose transporters: tomato LeSUT2 is induced (Barker et al. 2000), but other SUT genes are downregulated by sucrose (Chiou and Bush 1998; Vaughn et al. 2002).

Mysterious occurrence of sucrose transporter mRNA and protein in sieve elements and pollen

In situ hybridization and immunolocalization showed that both *StSUT1* mRNA and StSUT1 protein are localized in SE in potato source leaves (Kühn *et al.* 1997). Both *StSUT1* mRNA and StSUT1 protein have a high turnover rate (Kühn *et al.* 1997). However, SE lacks a nucleus and ribosome, and so SE cannot synthesize *StSUT1* mRNA and StSUT1 protein by itself. How does the StSUT1 protein appear in SE? Although Kühn *et al.* (1997) suggested the possibility of targeting *StSUT1* mRNA or StSUT1 protein or both from CC to SE through plasmodesmata, the mechanism is still unclear.

A large amount of *AtSUC1* mRNA, but no AtSUC1 protein, is in mature pollen of Arabidopsis (Stadler *et al.* 1999), and after pollination the AtSUC1 protein starts to appear inside the pollen. This suggests that *AtSUC1* mRNA in mature pollen might be ready for AtSUC1 protein synthesis after pollination.

Post translational regulation

Many enzymatic activities and transport activities are regulated by protein phosphorylation. Protein phosphatase inhibitors, such as okadaic acid, reduce sucrose transport activity in plasma membrane vesicles of sugar beet (Roblin *et al.* 1998; Ransom-Hodgkins *et al.* 2003), suggesting that protein phosphorylation is included in regulation of sucrose transporters. Homo- and hetero-oligomerization of transporters often affect transporter activities, such as *Km* values and *Vmax*. Oligomerization was reported for tomato sucrose transporters: LeSUT4 colocalizes with LeSUT1 and LeSUT2 in SE (Barker *et al.* 2000), and LeSUT4 interacts with LeSUT1 and LeSUT2 (Reinders *et al.* 2002). The extended domains in the central loop and N terminus of the SUC3/SUT2 subfamily have the potential to regulate sucrose transporters, including oligomerization.

CONCLUSIONS AND FURTHER PERSPECTIVES

Sucrose is a major carbon form for long-distance carbon transport in most plants. Therefore sucrose transporters have indispensable roles in source leaves and in various sink organs and tissues, and sucrose transport activity is likely highly regulated to control carbon partitioning in plants. Since the early 1990s, study of sucrose transporters has advanced dramatically and our understanding has deepened. However, our knowledge is still fragmentary. Information, such as biochemical character, gene and protein expressions and phenotype of transformants or mutants, exists for each sucrose transporter. However, different sucrose transporters always cooperate in sucrose transport in plants. Therefore, we should pay more attention to joint activities by different sucrose transporters.

To understand carbohydrate transport in plants, we also have to pay attention to other sugar transporters, such as the STP/HXT, PLT, ITR/MIT, pGIcT, AZT/MSSP and SFP families. Lalonde et al. (2004) and Shiratake (2007) summarize these transporter families. The STP/HXT family is well-characterized and the studies were summarized (Lalonde *et al.* 1999; Büttner and Sauer 2000; Williams *et al.* 2000). Although less information had been reported for other families, the studies about the PLT and ITR/MIT families were summarized by Noiraud et al. (2001b). Recently Wormit et al. (2006) reported that a member of AZT/MSSP family in Arabidopsis, AttMT localizes in vacuolar membrane. Arabidopsis MEX, which localizes in chloroplast envelope, allows growth of E. coli, which lacks an endogenous maltose transporter (Niittylä et al. 2004), suggesting MEX is a maltose transporter. Interestingly, MEX has no similarity with other sugar transporter families. Further investigations are needed to clarify carbohydrate transport in plants.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by Grant-in-Aids for Young Scientists (A) (no. 17688002), for Exploratory Research (no. 18658010) and the 21st Century COE Program (no. 14COEA02) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan. The study was also supported in part by JSPS and BRAIN.

REFERENCES

- Ageorges A, Issaly N, Picaud S, Delrot S, Romieu C (2000) Identification and functional expression in yeast of a grape berry sucrose carrier. *Plant Physiol*ogy and Biochemistry 38, 177-185
- Aoki N, Hirose T, Scofield GN, Whitfeld PR, Furbank RT (2003) The sucrose transporter gene family in rice. *Plant Cell and Physiology* **44**, 223-232
- Aoki N, Hirose T, Takahashi S, Ono K, Ishimaru K, Ohsugi R (1999) Molecular cloning and expression analysis of a gene for a sucrose transporter in maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Plant and Cell Physiology* **40**, 1072-1078
- Aoki N, Scofield GN, Wang XD, Offler CE, Patrick JW, Furbank RT (2006) Pathway of sugar transport in germinating wheat seeds. *Plant Physiology* 141, 1255-1263
- Aoki N, Scofield GN, Wang XD, Patrick JW, Offler CE, Furbank RT (2004) Expression and localisation analysis of the wheat sucrose transporter *TaSUT1* in vegetative tissues. *Planta* **219**, 176-184
- Aoki N, Whitfeld P, Hoeren F, Scofield G, Newell K, Patrick J, Offler C, Clarke B, Rahman S, Furbank RT (2002) Three sucrose transporter genes are expressed in the developing grain of hexaploid wheat. *Plant Molecular Biology* 50, 453-462
- Barker L, Kühn C, Weise A, Schulz A, Gebhardt C, Hirner B, Hellmann H, Schulze W, Ward JM, Frommer WB (2000) SUT2, a putative sucrose sensor in sieve elements. *The Plant Cell* 12, 1153-1164

- Barth I, Meyer S, Sauer N (2003) PmSUC3: Characterization of a SUT2/ SUC3-type sucrose transporter from *Plantago major*. The Plant Cell 15, 1375-1385
- Baud S, Wuilleme S, Lenoine R, Kronenberger J, Caboche M, Lepiniec L, Rochat C (2005) The AtSUC5 sucrose transporter specifically expressed in the endosperm is involved in early seed development in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal* 43, 824-836
- Bick JA, Neelam A, Smith E, Nelson SJ, Hall JL, Williams LE (1998) Expression analysis of a sucrose carrier in the germinating seedling of *Ricinus communis*. *Plant Molecular Biology* 38, 425-435
- Briskin DP, Thornley WR, Wyse RE (1982) Membrane transport in isolated vesicles from sugarbeet taproot: II. Evidence for a sucrose/H⁺-antiport. *Plant Physiology* 78, 871-875
- Bürkle L, Hibberd JM, Quick WP, Kühn C, Hirner B, Frommer WB (1998) The H⁺-sucrose cotransporter NtSUT1 is essential for sugar export from tobacco leaves. *Plant Physiology* 118, 59-68
- Büttner M, Sauer N (2000) Monosaccharide transporters in plants: Structure, function and physiology. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1465, 263-274
- Carter C, Pan S, Zouhar J, Avila EL, Girke T, Raikhel NV (2004) The vegetative vacuole proteome of *Arabidopsis thaliana* reveals predicted and unexpected proteins. *The Plant Cell* 16, 3285-3303
- Chiou TJ, Bush DR (1998) Sucrose is a signal molecule in assimilate partitioning. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 95, 4784-4788
 Davies C, Wolf T, Robinson SP (1999) Three putative sucrose transporters are
- differentially expressed in grapevine tissues. *Plant Science* **147**, 93-100
- Decourteix M, Alves G, Brunel N, Ameglio T, Guilliot A, Lemoine R, Petel G, Sakr S (2006) JrSUT1, a putative xylem sucrose transporter, could mediate sucrose influx into xylem parenchyma cells and be up-regulated by freeze-thaw cycles over the autumn-winter period in walnut tree (Juglans regia L.). Plant, Cell and Environment 29, 36-47
- **Doll S, Rodier F, Willenbrink J** (1979) Accumulation of sucrose in vacuoles isolated from red beet tissue. *Planta* **144**, 407-411
- Echeverría E, Gonzalez PC (2000) ATP-induced sucrose efflux from red-beet tonoplast vesicles. *Planta* **211**, 77-84
- Eckardt NA (2003) The function of SUT2/SUC3 sucrose transporters: The debate continues. *The Plant Cell* 15, 1259-1262
- Endler A, Meyer S, Schelbert S, Schneider T, Weschke W, Peters SW, Keller F, Baginsky S, Martinoia E, Schmidt UG (2006) Identification of a vacuolar sucrose transporter in barley and Arabidopsis mesophyll cells by a tonoplast proteomic approach. *Plant Physiology* 141, 196-207
- Furbank RT, Scofield GN, Hirose T, Wang XD, Patrick JW, Offler CE (2001) Cellular localisation and function of a sucrose transporter OsSUT1 in developing rice grains. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology 28, 1187-1196
- Gahrtz M, Schmelzer E, Stolz J, Sauer N (1996) Expression of the *PmSUC1* sucrose carrier gene from *Plantago major* L. is induced during seed development. *The Plant Journal* **9**, 93-100
- Gamalei Y (1989) Structure and function of leaf minor veins in trees and herbs: a taxonomic review. *Trees* **3**, 96-110
- Getz HP (1991) Sucrose transport in tonoplast vesicles of red beet roots is linked to ATP hydrolysis. *Planta* 185, 261-268
- Getz HP, Klein M (1995) Characteristics of sucrose transport and sucroseinduced H⁺ transport on the tonoplast of red beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) storage tissue. *Plant Physiology* **107**, 459-467
- Getz HP, Grosclaude J, Kurkdjian A, Lelievre F, Maretzki A, Guern J (1993) Immunological evidence for the existence of a carrier protein for sucrose transport in tonoplast vesicles from red beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) root storage tissue. *Plant Physiology* **102**, 751-760
- Getz HP, Thom M, Maretzki A (1991) Proton and sucrose transport in isolated tonoplast vesicles from sugarcane stalk tissue. *Physiologia Plantarum* 83, 404-410
- Getz HP, Thom M, Maretzki A (1994) Monoclonal antibodies as tools for the identification of the tonoplast sucrose carrier from sugarcane stalk tissue. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 144, 525-532
- Gottwald JR, Krysan PJ, Young JC, Evert RF, Sussman MR (2000) Genetic evidence for the *in planta* role of phloemspecific plasma membrane sucrose transporters. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 97, 13979-13984
- **Greutert H, Keller F** (1993) Further evidence for stachyose and sucrose/H⁺ antiporters on the tonoplast of Japanese artichoke (*Stachys sieboldii*) tubers. *Plant Physiology* **101**, 1317-1322
- Hackel A, Schauer N, Carrari F, Fernie AR, Grimm B, Kühn C (2006) Sucrose transporter LeSUT1 and LeSUT2 inhibition affects tomato fruit development in different ways. *The Plant Journal* 45, 180-192
- Hirose T, Imaizumi N, Scofield GN, Furbank RT, Ohsugi R (1997) cDNA cloning and tissue specific expression of a gene for sucrose transporter from rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant and Cell Physiology* **38**, 1389-1396
- Ishimaru K, Hirose T, Aoki N, Takahashi S, Ono K, Yamamoto S, Wu J, Saji S, Baba T, Ugaki M, Matsumoto T, Ohsugi R (2001) Antisense expression of a rice sucrose transporter OsSUT1 in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant* and Cell Physiology 42, 1181-1185
- Juergensen K, Scholz-Starke J, Sauer N, Hess P, van Bel AJE, Grundler FMW (2003) The companion cell-specific Arabidopsis disaccharide carrier

AtSUC2 is expressed in nematode-induced syncytia. *Plant Physiology* 131, 61-69

- Keller F (1992) Transport of stachyose and sucrose by vacuoles of Japanese artichoke (*Stachys sieboldii*) tubers. *Plant Physiology* 98, 442-445
- Keller F, Pharr DM (1996) Metabolism of carbohydrate in sinks and sources: galactosyl-sucrose oligosaccharides. In: Zamski E, Schaffer AA (Eds) *Photo-assimilate Distribution in Plants and Crops*, Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, pp 157-183
- Knop C, Stadler R, Sauer N, Lohaus G (2004) AmSUT1, a sucrose transporter in collection and transport phloem of the putative symplastic phloem loader *Alonsoa meridionalis. Plant Physiology* 134, 204-214
- Knop C, Voitsekhovskaja O, Lohaus G (2001) Sucrose transporters in two members of the Scrophulariaceae with different types of transport sugar. *Planta* 213, 80-91
- Kühn C (2003) A comparison of the sucrose transporter systems of different plant spices. *Plant Biology* 5, 215-232
- Kühn C, Barker L, Bürkle L, Frommer WB (1999). Update on sucrose transport in higher plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 50, 935-953
- Kühn C, Franceschi VR, Schulz A, Lemoine R, Frommer WB (1997) Macromolecular trafficking indicated by localization and turnover of sucrose transporters in enucleate sieve elements. *Science* 275, 1298-1300
- Kühn C, Hajirezaei MR, Fernie AR, Roessner-Tunali U, Czechowski T, Hirner B, Frommer WB (2003) The sucrose transporter StSUT1 localizes to sieve elements in potato tuber phloem and influences tuber physiology and development. *Plant Physiology* 131, 102-113
- Kühn C, Quick WP, Schulz A, Riesmeier JW, Sonnewald U, Frommer WB (1996) Companion cell-specific inhibition of the potato sucrose transporter SUT1. Plant, Cell and Environment 19, 1115-1123
- Lalonde S, Boles E, Hellmann H, Barker L, Patrick JW, Frommer WB, Ward JM (1999) The dual function of sugar carriers: Transport and sugar sensing. *The Plant Cell* 11, 707-726
- Lalonde S, Wipf D, Frommer WB (2004) Transport mechanisms for organic forms of carbon and nitrogen between source and sink. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 55, 341-372
- Leggewie G, Kolbe A, Lemoine R, Roessner U, Lytovchenko A, Zuther E, Kehr J, Frommer WB, Riesmeier JW, Willmitzer L, Fernie AR (2003) Overexpression of the sucrose transporter SoSUT1 in potato results in alterations in leaf carbon partitioning and in tuber metabolism but has little impact on tuber morphology. *Planta* 217, 158-167
- Lemoine R (2000) Sucrose transporters in plants: update on function and structure. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1465, 1246-1262
- Lemoine R, Bürkle L, Barker L, Sakr S, Kühn C, Regnacq M, Gaillard C, Delrot S, Frommer BW (1999) Identification of a pollen-specific sucrose transporter-like protein NtSUT3 from tobacco. *FEBS Letters* 454, 325-330
- Lemoine R, Kühn C, Thiele N, Delrot S, Frommer WB (1996) Antisense inhibition of the sucrose transporter in potato: Effects on amount and activity. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 19, 1124-1131
- Li CY, Shi JX, Weiss D, Goldschmidt EE (2003) Sugars regulate sucrose transporter gene expression in citrus. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 306, 402-407
- Manning K, Davies C, Bowen HC, White PJ (2001) Functional characterization of two ripening-related sucrose transporters from grape berries. *Annals* of Botany 87, 125-129
- Matsukura CA, Saitoh T, Hirose T, Ohsugi R, Perata P, Yamaguchi J (2000) Sugar uptake and transport in rice embryo. Expression of companion cellspecific sucrose transporter (OsSUT1) induced by sugar and light. Plant Physiology 124, 85-93
- McRae SR, Christopher JT, Smith JAC, Holtum JAM (2002) Sucrose transport across the vacuolar membrane of *Ananas comosus*. Functional Plant Biology 29, 717-724
- Meyer S, Lauterbach C, Niedermeier M, Barth I, Sjolund RD, Sauer N (2004) Wounding enhances expression of AtSUC3, a sucrose transporter from Arabidopsis sieve elements and sink tissues. *Plant Physiology* **134**, 684-693
- Meyer S, Melzer M, Truernit E, Hummer C, Besenbeck R, Stadler R, Sauer N (2000) *AtSUC3*, a gene encoding a new *Arabidopsis* sucrose transporter, is expressed in cells adjacent to the vascular tissue and in a carpel cell layer. *The Plant Journal* 24, 869-882
- Milner ID, Ho LC, Hall JL (1995) Properties of proton and sugar transport at the tonoplast of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) fruit. *Physiologia Plantarum* 94, 399-410
- Niittylä T, Messerli G, Trevisan M, Chen J, Smith AM, Zeeman SC (2004) A previously unknown maltose transporter essential for starch degradation in leaves. *Science* 303, 87-89
- Noiraud N, Delrot S, Lemoine R (2000a) The sucrose transporter of celery. Identification and expression during salt stress. *Plant Physiology* **122**, 1447-1455
- Noiraud N, Maurousset L, Lemoine R (2001b) Transport of polyols in higher plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **39**, 717-728
- Noiraud N, Maurousset L, Lemoine R (2001c) Identification of a mannitol transporter, AgMaT1, in celery phloem. *The Plant Cell* **13**, 695-705
- Özcan S, Dover J, Johnston M (1998) Glucose sensing and signaling by two glucose receptors in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. The EMBO Journal 17, 2566-2573

- Özcan S, Dover J, Rosenwald AG, Wölfel S, Johnston M (1996) Two glucose transporters in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* are glucose sensors that generate a signal for induction of gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **93**, 12428-12432
- Pao SS, Paulsen IT, Saier MH Jr. (1998) Major facilitator superfamily. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 62, 1-34
- Patrick JW, Offler CE (1996) Post-sieve element transport of photoassimilates in sink regions. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 47, 1165-1177
- Pontis HC, Gonzalez P, Etxeberria E (2002) Transport of 1-kestose across the tonoplast of Jerusalem artichoke tubers. *Phytochemistry* 59, 241-247
- Preisser J, Komor E (1991) Sucrose uptake into vacuoles of sugarcane suspension cells. *Planta* 186, 109-114
- Rae AL, Perroux JM, Grof CPL (2005) Sucrose partitioning between vascular bundles and storage parenchyma in the sugarcane stem: a potential role for the ShSUT1 sucrose transporter. *Planta* 220, 817-825
- Ransom-Hodgkins WD, Vaughn MW, Bush DR (2003) Protein phosphorylation plays a key role in sucrose-mediated transcriptional regulation of a phloem-specific proton-sucrose symporter. *Planta* 217, 483-489
- Reinders A, Schulze W, Kühn C, Barker L, Schulz A, Ward MJ, Frommer WB (2002) Protein-protein interactions between sucrose transporters of different affinities colocalized in the same enucleate sieve element. *The Plant Cell* 14, 1567-1577
- Riesmeier JW, Hirner B, Frommer WB (1993) Potato sucrose transporter expression in minor veins indicates a role in phloem loading. *The Plant Cell* 5, 1591-1598
- Riesmeier JW, Willmitzer L, Frommer WB (1992) Isolation and characterization of a sucrose carrier cDNA from spinach by functional expression in yeast. *The EMBO Journal* **11**, 4705-4713
- Riesmeier JW, Willmitzer L, Frommer WB (1994) Evidence for an essential role of the sucrose transporter in phloem loading and assimilate partitioning. *The EMBO Journal* 13, 1-7
- Roblin G, Sakr S, Bonmort J, Delrot S (1998) Regulation of a plant plasma membrane sucrose transporter by phosphorylation. *FEBS Letters* 424, 165-168
- Rosche E, Blackmore D, Tegeder M, Richardson T, Schroeder H, Higgins TJV, Frommer WB, Offler CE, Patrick JW (2002) Seed-specific overexpression of a potato sucrose transporter increases sucrose uptake and growth rates of developing pea cotyledons. *The Plant Journal* 30, 165-175
- **Ruan YL, Llewellyn DJ, Furbank RT** (2001) The control of single-celled cotton fiber elongation by developmentally reversible gating of plasmodesmata and coordinated expression of sucrose and K⁺ transporters and expansin. *The Plant Cell* **13**, 47-60
- Sakr S, Noubahni M, Bourbouloux A, Riesmeier J, Frommer WB, Sauer N, Delrot S (1997) Cutting, ageing and expression of plant membrane transporters. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1330, 207-216
- Sauer N, Ludwig, A, Knoblauch A, Rothe P, Gahrtz M, Klebl F (2004) AtSUC8 and AtSUC9 encode functional sucrose transporters, but the closely related AtSUC6 and AtSUC7 genes encode aberrant proteins in different Arabidopsis ecotypes. The Plant Journal 40, 120-130
- Sazuka T, Keta S, Shiratake K, Yamaki S, Shibata D (2004) Identification of membrane-bound proteins from a vacuolar membrane-enriched fraction of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. DNA Research 11, 101-113
- Schulz A, Kühn C, Riesmeier JW, Frommer WB (1998) Ultrastructural effects in potato leaves due to antisense-inhibition of the sucrose transporter indicate an apoplasmic mode of phloem loading. *Planta* 206, 533-543
- Schulze W, Weise A, Frommer WB, Ward JM (2000) Function of the cytosolic N-terminus of sucrose transporter AtSUT2 in substrate affinity. *FEBS Letters* 485, 189-194
- Scofield GN, Hirose T, Gaudron JA, Upadhyaya NM, Ohsugi R, Furbank RT (2002) Antisense suppression of the rice sucrose transporter gene, OsSUT1, leads to impaired grain filling and germination but does not affect photosynthesis. Functional Plant Biology 29, 815-826
- Shakya R, Strum A (1998) Characterization of source- and sink-specific sucrose/H⁺ symporters from carrot. *Plant Physiology* 118, 1473-1480
- Shimaoka T, Ohnishi M, Sazuka T, Mitsuhashi N, Hara-Nishimura I, Shimazaki KI, Maeshima M, Yokota A, Tomizawa KI, Mimura T (2004) Isolation of intact vacuoles and proteomic analysis of tonoplast from suspension-cultured cells of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 45, 672-683
- Shiratake K (2007) Sugar and polyol transporters in plants. In: Jaiwal PK (Ed) Plant Genetic Engineering (Vol 9), Plant Membrane and Vacuolar Transporters, CAB International, Wallingford, UK, in press
- Sivitz AB, Reinders A, Johnson ME, Krentz AD, Grof CPL, Perroux JM, Ward JM (2007) Arabidopsis sucrose transporter AtSUC9. High-affinity

transport activity, intragenic control of expression, and early flowering mutant phenotype. *Plant Physiology* **143**, 188-198

- Sivitz AB, Reinders A, Ward JM (2005) Analysis of the transport activity of barley sucrose transporter HvSUT1. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 46, 1666-1673
- Stadler R, Sauer N (1996) The Arabidopsis thaliana AtSUC2 gene is specifically expressed in companion cells. Botanica Acta 109, 299-306
- Stadler R, Brandner J, Schulz A, Gahrtzv M, Sauer N (1995) Phloem loading by the PmSUC2 sucrose carrier from *Plantago major* occurs into companion cells. *The Plant Cell* 7, 1545-1554
- Stadler R, Truernit E, Gahrtz M, Sauer N (1999) The AtSUC1 sucrose carrier may represent the osmotic driving force for anther dehiscence and pollen tube growth in *Arabidopsis*. *The Plant Journal* 19, 269-278
- Stadler R, Wright KM, Lauterbach C, Amon G, Gahrtz M, Feuerstein A, Oparka KJ, Sauer N (2005) Expression of GFP-fusions in *Arabidopsis* companion cells reveals non-specific protein trafficking into sieve elements and identifies a novel post-phloem domain in roots. *The Plant Journal* 41, 319-331
- Szponarski W, Sommerer N, Boyer JC, Rossignol M, Gibrat R (2004) Large-scale characterization of integral proteins from *Arabidopsis* vacuolar membrane by two-dimensional liquid chromatography. *Proteomics* **4**, 397-406
- Takeda T, Toyofuku K, Matsukura C, Yamaguchi J (2001) Sugar transporters involved in flowering and grain development of rice. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 158, 465-470
- Tegeder M, Wang XD, Frommer WB, Offler CE, Patrick JW (1999) Sucrose transport into developing seeds of *Pisum sativum* L.. *The Plant Journal* 18, 151-161
- **Thom M, Komor E** (1984) H⁺-sugar antiport as the mechanism of sugar uptake by sugarcane vacuoles. *FEBS Letters* **173**, 1-4
- Thom M, Getz HP, Maretzki A (1992) Purification of a tonoplast polypeptide with sucrose transport properties. *Physiologia Plantarum* 86, 104-114
- Toyofuku K, Kasahara M, Yamaguchi J (2000) Characterization and expression of monosaccharide transporters (OsMSTs) in rice. Plant and Cell Physiology 41, 940-947
- **Truernit E, Sauer N** (1995) The promoter of the *Arabidopsis thaliana SUC2* sucrose- H^+ symporter gene directs expression of β -glucuronidase to the phloem: Evidence for phloem loading and unloading by SUC2. *Planta* **196**, 564-570
- Turgeon R (2006) Phloem loading: How leaves gain their independence. Bioscience 56, 15-24
- Vaughn MW, Harrington GN, Bush DR (2002) Sucrose-mediated transcriptional regulation of sucrose symporter activity in the phloem. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 99, 10876-10880
- Ward JM, Kühn C, Tegeder M, Frommer WB (1998) Sucrose transport in higher plants. International Review of Cytology 178, 41-71
- Watari J, Kobae Y, Yamaki S, Yamada K, Toyofuku K, Tabuchi T, Shiratake K (2004) Identification of sorbitol transporters expressed in the phloem of apple source leaves. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 8, 1032-1041
- Weber H, Borisjuk L, Heim U, Sauer N, Wobus U (1997) A role for sugar transporters during seed development: Molecular characterization of a hexose and a sucrose carrier in fava bean seeds. *The Plant Cell* **9**, 895-908
- Weig A, Komor E (1996) An active sucrose carrier (Scr1) that is predominantly expressed in the seedling of *Ricinus communis* L. Journal of Plant Physiology 147, 685-690
- Weise A, Barker L, Kühn C, Lalonde S, Buschmann H, Frommer WB, Ward JM (2000) A new subfamily of sucrose transporters, SUT4, with low affinity/high capacity localized in enucleate sieve elements of plants. *The Plant Cell* 12, 1345-1355
- Weschke W, Panitz R, Sauer N, Wang Q, Neubohn B, Weber H, Wobus U (2000) Sucrose transport into barley seeds: molecular characterization of two transporters and implications for seed development and starch accumulation. *The Plant Journal* **21**, 455-467
- Williams L, Thom M, Maretzki A (1990) Characterization of a proton translocating ATPase and sucrose uptake in a tonoplast-enriched vesicle fraction from sugarcane. *Physiologia Plantarum* 80, 169-176
- Williams LE, Lemoine R, Sauer N (2000) Sugar transporters in higher plants: a diversity of roles and complex regulation. *Trends in Plant Science* 5, 283-290
- Wormit A, Trentmann O, Feifer I, Lohr C, Tjaden J, Meyer S, Schmidt U, Martinoia E, Neuhaus HE (2006) Molecular identification and physiological characterization of a novel monosaccharide transporter from Arabidopsis involved in vacuolar sugar transport. *The Plant Cell* 18, 3476-3490